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Presently before the CoustDefendantsmotion for summary judgment whickas heard
beforethe Court on January 17, 2014aving read the partiepapers and carefully considered
their arguments and the relevant legal authority, and good cause appearirayrtheeteby

GRANTSthe motion.
l. Background

On April 5, 2011, te County terminated Plaintifbr allegedlyviolating hospital policy
Defs. Motion for Summary JudgmentNISJ’) at 7, Docket Iltem No. 8Defendantsontend
Plaintiff failed to follow the hospital’s bloodborne pathogen and infection control policies and
knowingly exposda hospital visitor to bloodborne pathogeds Plaintiff argueghat he
termination was the reswf discrimination on the basis of national origin, gender, andage
thatDefendantsetaliated against héor exercising her First Amendment right and in violation of
state lawsFirst Amended Complaint FAC”) 11 2, 9,18,31, 45, Docket Item No. 3.

Plaintiff is a Clinical Registered Nurse formerly employed byite CountyPl.’s Oppn at
1, Docket Item No. 253Rlaintiff worked as &per dieni nurse in the Mothetafant Care Center
(“MICC”) of Santa Clara Valley Medical CentéSCVMC’) from October 199%ntil she was
released from her employment in April 20FAC ] 18, Dkt. No. 3As a“per dieni nurse
Plaintiff did not havea permanent schedubeit insteadill edvacancies in the scheduling.
Declaration of Joanne CoxQbx Decl’) 15, Docket ItemNo. 11. Nurses who work asépdient
or “extra helpin the SCVMC are consideretiatwill” employeesld. Therefore, “per diem”
nurses araot entitled to notice prior to termination and candleased from employmefdr any
lawful reason. Cox Decl., Ex. 1, App. C, Dkt. No. 11.

On February 25, 2011, Plaintiff was in the process of administering requireddral H
medicine to a newborn baby of an Hpésitive motheunder Plaintiffs care FAC 18 Dkt. No.
3. This involved Plaintiff holding and supporting the baby’s head with her left hand in an @éleva
position to prevent the baby from choking, while simultaneously with her right hand holding th
medicine dropper into the baby’s moathdadministering the baby liquid medication.

Declarationof Oliva Aida (' Oliva Decl’) 1 8 Docket Item No. 261t lis undisputed that Plaintiff
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was made aware the mother was HidSitive prior to the start of her shift and that the mother
requested to staff that her HpOsitive status be kept confidentill. It is alsoundisputed that
Plaintiff knew thather HIV-patienthad delivered by cesarian section, and that the dressings on
surgical wounds had been removed by the obstetric doctors earlier that sakivéitiy.
administering the baby liquid medicatia, Plaintiff observeder HIV-patientexit the shower and
then proceed to accidentally draggowelon top of her owrfieet.ld. Fearing forher patients
safety, but occupied with the newborn baby, Plaintiff contendstigaimade asplit second
decision andsked thédlV -patients sisterto pick up the towel befordae HIV-patienttripped on
it. PL.’s Oppn. at 2, Dkt. No. 31Plaintiff alleges she perceived a clear and present danger and
emergent hazar theHIV -patientfrom thefallen towel Oliva Dec.q 9 Dkt. No. 26.1t is
undisputed thatie sisteof the patienpickedup the towel andlpced it in a hamperld.

Following this incidentNurse Manager for the MICOraw, received a complaint from
Laura Castillo(“Castillg’), the birth recorderDefs! MSJ at 4, Dkt. No. 8ilmmediately following
Castillos complaint, Traw went into the patientoomandnoticed that the patient was completing
a complaint formas well Traw Depo. at 269:21-270:5, Ex. Tfaw then went to Pam Stanley
(“Stanley), thenDirector of Inpatient Acute Care Nursing, to infohmr of the situationd.
Consistent with the practice MICC management, Stanley directed Traw to delaintiff home
until the hospital could hold an investigative meetidg.seealsoid. at277:11-278:10; 281:23-
282:6.Traw then requested thRataintiff come to her office, wheferaw informedPlaintiff that
there had been a complaint against bdiva Depo. at 184:23-185:10raw thentold Plaintiff to
leave the MICC and walked her out of the uhit.at 350:11-351:5Traw also toldPlaintiff she
would not be scheduled to work until further notice, and that an investigative meeting would b
held withPlaintiff and her union representation. Traw Depo. at 350:11-351:5, EQnlHebruary
25, 2011, Stanley emailed Traw and stated that theytemmenating Plaintiffand reporting her to
theBoard of Registered NursinggRN") on February 28, 201 Declaration of Barab@ Traw
Ded.”), Ex. B, Docket Item No. 10.
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On March 2, 2011 Rlaintiff’s lawyer sent an emabh her behalf to an attorney in tBanta
ClaraCounty Counsel'sffice (“County Counsel”stating that he representBthintiff and
complained of harassment, retaliation, and denial of due processraeds&@liva Depo. at
122:9-22, Ex. 7. On March 3, 2011, Traw sent a letter to the BRN to inform theRidlmiff had

been placedn administrative leave pending completion of an investigation for violation of

bloodborne pathogen policies. Traw Depo., 296:12-16; 297:6-10; Ex. 23; Traw Dec. 1 5, Ex. C.

According to Defendants, when Traw signed the letiberhad no knowledge Bfaintiff's

attorney’s email from the previoasy. Traw Dec. § 5Docket Item No. 10; Oliva Depo. at 123:14t

21.

On March 8, 2011Matt Gerrior(“Gerrior’), now Director of Inpatient Acute Nursing, met
with Plaintiff andtwo RNPA representatives for an investigative meet@wyrior Depo. at 8:15-
17; 50:19-51:25; Traw Depo., 292:4-10; Ex. 21. BaseBlamtiff's statements irheé meeting, his
investigation and discussions with the County’s Labor Relations Departmengr@ewided to
terminate Plaintiffor her failure to followbloodborne pathogen and infection control policies an
proceduresGerrior Depo. a82:9-17. On April 5, 2011Gerrior senPlaintiff a letter terminating
her employmentGerrior Depo. at 80:4-12; Ex. Blaintiff received her termination letter the
following day on April 6, 2011FAC | 27, Dkt. No. 3Gerriortestified at his deposition that he ha
never seen the email froRlaintiff's attorney.Id. at 79:21-3.

On September 27, 201 Plaintiff filed a discriminatiorcharge with théepartment of Fair
Employment and Housing PFEH") and theEqual EmploymenOpportunity Commission
(“EEOC) alleging that Defendants discriminated and retaliated against her on thefbvasks,
color, national origin, and ageAC { 12 Dkt. No. 3; Oliva Depo. at 103:3-104:5, Ex P2aintiff
did not include discrimination on the basis of gender in her chiargeéhe received &ight to sue”
letter from the DFEH on September 30, 2011, and from the EEOC on December 2G;AD 1.

12, Dkt. No. 3Plaintiff also filed an AdministrativeTort Claini’ with the Clerk of the Board on
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November 21, 2011d. The County rejected hetaim on Deember 9, 2011d. Plaintiff then
filed this lawsuit on November 21, 20agjainst Defendantsd.
Il. Discussion
A. Legal Standard Governing Motions for Summary Judgment
A party seeking summary judgment bears the initial burden of informing thieatdbe
basis for its motion, and of identifying those portions of the pleadings and discoygonses that

demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materialé&atex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317

323 (1986)Material facts are those that might affect the outcome of the Aaderson v. Liberty

Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986A.dispute as to a material fact‘genuine”if there is
sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for the nonmoviygldar
On an issue where the nonmoving party will bear the burden of proof at trial, the movi

party can preail merely by pointing out to the district court that there is an absence of exitten

support the nonmoving parg/caseCelotex 477 U.S. at 324-25; Soremekun v. Thrifty Payless,
Inc., 509 F.3d 978, 984 (9th Cir. 200Mthe moving party meets itaitial burden, the opposing
party must then set out specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial inre@oifeat the motion.

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 250; Soremekun, 509 F.3d ats¢®4isoFRCP 56(c), (e)The opposing

party s evidence must be mattean ‘merely colorablébut must be “significantly probative.”
Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249-50. Further, that party may not rest upon mere allegations ®otleni
the adverse partyevidence, but instead must produce admissible evidence showing there is 3

genuine dispute of material fact for trilissan Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Fritz Cos., Inc., 210 F.3

1099, 1102-03 (9th Cir. 2000). Disputes over irrelevant or unnecessary facts will not preclude

! Defendants havsubmittedevidentary objections in their Replfefs. Reply atl, Docket Item No. 3Defendants
object to significant portions of the declaratidoswhich Plaintiff relies uponThe Court SUSTAINS Bfendant’s
objections undefFed.R. Evid. 402 and 602for legal conclusions regarding issues that are “triable,” made by the
following Declarants: Decl. of Gina SmithYmith Decl”) § 10, Docket Item No. 27; Aida Oliva did not violate the
policy on bloodbornepathogens because the patient was clear that her sister was not exposedbmdaomother
bodily fluids. Dr. Byrne and the hospital managers knew this by 8:30gfelmuary 25, 2011); Decl. of Dagmar
Chambers“(Chambers Dec) 1 10, Docket Iltem No. 28; Aida Oliva was terminated for an incidehat was not a
violation of any hospital polic}{) To the extent that the Court reliesamy other disputed evidence, the Court
addresses the evidentiaryjettions belowThe Courtneed not reacanyremaining objectionfor which the Court
does not rely on.
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grant of summary judgment. T.W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pac. Elec. Contractors Ass’n, 809 F.2d 626,

630 (9th Cir. 1987).
Nevertheless, when deciding a summary judgment motion, a court must view theevid
in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all justifial#esinces in its favor.

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255; Hunt v. City of Los Angeles, 638 F.3d 703, 709 (9th Cir. 2011).

district court may only base a ruling on a motion for summary judgment upon factsothdtbe

admissible in evidence at tri@eeln re Gracle Corp. Sec. Litig627 F.3d 376, 385 (9th Cir.

2010); FRCP 56(c). Further, it is not a casitBsk‘to scour the record in search of a genuine issue

of triable fact but is entitled tdrely on the nonmoving party to identify with reasonable

particdarity the evidence that precludes summary judgriéeenan v. Allan91 F.3d 1275, 1279

(9th Cir.1996) (internal quotations omitte@deealsoCarmen v. San Francisco Unified Sch. Dist.,

237 F.3d 1026, 1031 (9th Cir. 2001) (“The district court nee@xamine the entire file for
evidence establishing a genuine issue of fact, where the evidence is ndhsattfoe opposing
papers with adequate references so that it could conveniently be found.”)
B. Legal Standard Governing FEHA Actions
In a disparatéreatment case, the plaintiff must show that intentional discrimination was

determinative factor in the adverse employment actiazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. 604

610 (1993)There are two ways of proving intentional discrimination: directence and indect

or circumstantial evidenc8ragg v. E. Bay RegPark Dist, C-02-3585-PJH, 2003 WL 23119278

(N.D. Cal. Dec. 29, 2003Direct evidence is evidence that proves the fact of discriminatory

animus without inference or presumpti@odwinv. Hunt Wesson, Inc., 150 F.3d 1217, 1221 (9t

Cir. 1998). Should a plaintiff prove intentional discrimination using indirect evidence, thetdistri

court involesthe analysis set forth iMlcDonnell-Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).

This is becausenievaluating discrimination claims under FEHA, courts look to pertieeietal

precedenaind apply the McDonnell DouglasalysisSeeGuz v. Bechtel Ndit, Inc., 24 Cal. 4th

317, 354 (2000).
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In McDonnell Douglas, the Supreme Court held that plaintiff bears the initial burden of

establishing by a preponderance of the evidenmérea faciecase of improper discriminatioA.
plaintiff can make a prima facie case by showing:tfigtshe belongs to a protected class, [® s
was perfoming the job satisfactorily; (3he was subjected to an adverse employment action; af

(4) similarly situated individuals outside loérprotected class were treated more favorabty.

Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506 (19933 plaintiff succeeds in proving@ima
faciecase, the baen shifts to the defendant to present evidendicient to permit the factfinder
to conclude that the employer haditimate, nondiscriminatory reastor theadverse
employment actionld. at 506-07. Should defendant carry this burden of production, the burder
proof shifts back to the plaintiff tdemonstrate that the employgarticulated reason is a pretext
for unlawful discrimination by either directly persuading the court that aimhis@tory reason
more likely motivated the employer or indirectly by showing that the empkpeoffered reason

is unworthy of credenc@.exas Deft of Canty. Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 256 (1981).

To establish pretext, verittle direct evidence of discriminatory motive is required, but if
circumstantial evidence is offered, such evidence has‘tsgeeific and “substantial. Godwin v.

Hunt Wesson, Inc., 150 F.3d 1217, 1222 (9th Cir. 1998inwell v. Electra CenCredt Union,

439 F.3d 1018, 1028 n. 6 (9th Cir. 2006) (merely denying the credibility of defesganffered
reason for the challenged employment action or relying sofgbjaintiff’s subjective beliefs that

the action was unnecessary are insufficienhtmspretext)Wallis v. J.R. Simplot C926 F.3d

885, 890 (9th Cir. 1994) [A] plaintiff cannot defeat summary judgment simply by making out &
prima faciecasé to show pretext or “denying the credibility of the [defendgwitnessey

(internal citations omitted) (alteration in originalhhe McDonnell Douglagdest reflects the

principle that direct evidence of intentional discrimination is & usuallys proved
circumstantiallyld. at 354. Througlsuccessive steps of increasingly narroeufy the McDonnell
Douglastest allows discrimination to be inferred from facts that create a reasonablelikl of

bias and are not satisfactorily explaingt.
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C. Whether Defendants Are Entitled to Summary Judgment on Plaintiffs Actions

Plaintiff assertshe followingeightcauses of action1j disparate treatment discrimination
in violation of FEHA (first cause of action); j2etaliationin violation of FEHA (second cause of
action); (3) retaliation in violation of Labor Code 8§ 1102.5 (fifth cause of action)kt@)ation in
violation of Health and Safety Code § 1278.5 (sixth cause of action); (5) intentionailanfot
emotional distress (seventh cause of action); and three violations of 42 U.S.C. §)1#ggigent
hiring, training, supervision and retention (third cause of actiopje{dliation for exercising free
speech (fourth cause of action), and (8) retaliation for exercising freehspad petition (eighth
cause of action).

For the reasons stated below, the Court GRANTS Defenddotgn in its entirety.

I.  FEHA Discrimination (First Cause of Action)
a. Defendants FEHA Administrative Exhaustion Challenge

As a threshold matter, the Court first analyzes whether Plasngg@@nder discrimination
claim was properly exhaustetihe parties do not dispute whether PlaireXhausted her
administrative remedies as to her racial and age discrimination cléemdantsarguethat
Plaintiff's failure to alleggendediscrimination in her DFEH / EEOC claims precluties from
raising theclaim in her civil complaintDefs! MSJ at 8, Dkt No. 8Plaintiff counters by arguing
that her judicial complaint may encompass discrimination based on gender becatlgeior
reasonably relatédo the allegations made in her DFEH / EECiGarge Pl s Oppn at 14 Dkt.
No. 25.Alternatively, Plaintiff argues her claim for gender discrimination is actieriadcause
Plaintiff submitted & Pre Complaint Questionnaire-Employmeriirm to these agencies on
September 12, 2011 that includestX’ as a basis for her alleged discriminatiBh.s Oppn at 14
Docket Item No. 25. Plaintiff argues that DFEH and EEOC’s oversight in fadingclude it on
her EEOC and DFEH charges should not preclude her from including it in her civil aampla

Prior to bringng a civil suit on a FEHA cause of action, a plaintiff must exhaust her
administrative remedie§eeRojo v. Kliger, 52 Cal. 3d 65, 83 (1990). Exhaustion requires filing

complaint with the DFEH within one year of the date of the alleged unlawful ggantd then
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obtaining a notice of the right to sue. Cal. Gov't Code § 128&€Romano v. Rockwell Ink Inc.,

14 Cal. 4th 479, 492 (1996). Failure to exhaust deprives the court of jurisdiction over a @ainti

cause of actiorMiller v. United Airlines, Inc., 174 Cal. App. 3d 878, 890 (1983nhé

administrative charge requirement serves the important purposes of givoitatged party notice

of the claim andnarrow[ing] the issues for prompt adjudication and decisidhark v. Howard

Univ., 71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (quoting Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, 563.,F.2d

429, 472 n. 325 (D.C. Cir. 1976)).
For aplaintiff “[tjo exhaust his or her administrative remedies as to a particular act mad

unlawful by the FaiEmployment and Housing Act, the claimant must specify that act in the

administrative complaint, even if the complaint does specify other cognizabigfwracts:

Martin v. Lockheed Missiles & Space C89 Cal. App. 4th 1718, 1724 (1994]He scope of the

written administrative charge defines the permissible scope of the subsegilection”

Rodriguez v. Airborne Express, 265 F.3d 890, 897 (9th Cir. 2@@i)g Yurick v. SuperCt., 209

Cal. App. 3d 1116, 1121-23 (1989)Alegations in the civil complaint that fall outside of the
scope of the administrative charge are barred for failure to exhhalst.”

However, these procedural requirements are to be construed liberally incoagdbreve the
comprehensive purposes of FEHZeeCal. Govt Code § 12920; Cal. Gov't Code § 12993(a).
Therefore, district coustdo have jurisdiction over a civil claim if it fseasonably related to the

allegations of the [administrative] charg@ubichon v. North Am. Rockwell Corp., 482 F.2d 569,

571 (9th Cir. 1973)seeNazir v. United Airlines, Inc., 178 Cal. App. 4th 243, 268 (200pN{hat

is submitted to the DFEH must not only be construed liberally in favor of thdifflairmust be
construed in light of what might be uncovered by a reasonable iratestig. Thus, Tilt is
sufficient that the [DFEH] be apprised, in general terms, of the alleged disatary parties and
the alleged discriminatory actdNazir, 178 Cal. App. 4th at 267 (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted).

In this case, the Court is not convinced that Plaistgiender discrimination claim is

“reasonably relatédo her racial and age discrimination allegations such that they may be
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considered properly exhausted by the charged allegaktaistiff argues that it ishighly likely”
that an investigation into Defendants’ retaliatory conduct would have uncovegeduwaltls upon
which Defendants based their retaliation and thus retaliation founded upon oneatassifs
“like or reasonably relatédo retaliation basd on another classificatioRl.’s Oppn at 14, Dkt.
No. 25.Plaintiff's argument is wholly conclusory. Absent any factual or legal authority to supp(
this conclusory statement, Plaintiff has fallen short of meeting her burden ohsligating to the
Court why an investigation regarding discrimination on the basis of age owoadd reasonably

trigger an investigation into discrimination on the basis of geissStallcop v. Kaiser Found.

brt

Hosps, 820 F.2d 1044, 1050 (9th Cir. 1987) (holding that allegations of sex and age discrimingtior

in civil complaint were not encompassed by the charge filed with the DFEH gllegiy national
origin discrimination).
Next, the Court analyzes whether Plainsiffender discrimination claim actionable based

on her DFEH pre-complaint form. The Court follows the holding in B.K.B. v. Maui Police Dep’

276 F.3d 1091, 1102 (9th Cir. 2002), where the Ninth Circuit held that if the charge itself is
deficient in recording the complainant’s theoffythe case due terror of anagency representative
who completes the charge fornthén the plaintiff may present her premplaint questionnaire as

evidence that her claim for relief was properly exhausted. a8es&ickinger v. Mega Systems,

Inc., 951 F. Supp. 153, 157-58 (N.D. Ind. 1996) (holding that plaintiff could rely upon allegation
made in her pre-complaint questionnaire for purposes of exhaustion where EEOGhtafivese
who typed the charge failed to include allegations of wrongful ratalithhat were clearly

presented on the questionnaimealsoCheek v. W. & S. Life Ins., Co., 31 F.3d 497, 502 (7th

Cir. 1994)(determining that[a]llegationsoutside the body of the charge may be considered wh
it is clear that the charging party intended the agency to investigate the atiegjatio

In this case, Plaintiff checked boxes on hergoeiplaint brm indicating that she believed
that she had beesubjected to discrimination based oace’ “ sex; “ age; and “national origin’
Declaration of Charles A. Bonner (“Bonner Decl.”) at 12, Ex. 6, Docket Item N&e&fksonably

and liberally interpreted, Plaintiff precomplaint questionnaire indicates that she intended her
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right to sue letter to encompass her age, racial and gender discriminatis &lehough no
explicit admission of agency negligence has been provided, nor does this court impart an
negligence onto the agency, the evidence ing¢bherd does suggest that any deficiency in the
charge regarding the absence of discrimination basedexhshould be attributed to the agency
itself rather than to Plaintiff.le agency was on notice of Plaintiff's intent to pursue claims of
gender discminationbecause the evidence in the record clearly showsre@omplaint formhad
the appropriate boxes checked. Plaintiff should not spffgudice in litigationdue to an error
caused by thagency.

In light of the information in the pre-complaint questionnaire showiagRlaintiff checked
boxes indicating a charge of gender discrimination, the Court concludes that Pdagetiftier
discrimination claim was properly exhausted and therefore not barred.

b. Whether Plaintiff Has Established a Prima Facie Case of
Discrimination

Plaintiff argues that Defendants treated her disparately, differemdlgiacriminatorily in
violation of Title VIl andFEHA? because foher ethnicity (Filipino), her gender (female), and her
age (58)FAC 1 31, Dkt. No. 3Due to these characteristics, Plaintiff argues Defendants were
motivated to take adverse actideh. “To establish a prima facie case, a plaintiff must offer

evidence thatgive[s] rise to an inferare of unlawful discriminatiofi. Cordova v. State Farm Ins.

Cos., 124 F.3d 1145, 1148 (9th Cir. 1997) (quoting Burdine, 450 U.S. at@&Rerally, the
plaintiff must provide evidence thafl) [s]he was a member of a protected class, (2) [s]he was
qualified for the position [s]he sought or was performing competently in the positienald, (3)
[s]he suffered an adverse employment action, such as termination, demotion, or demial of
available job, and (4) some other circumstance suggests discriminatory freagvesmilarly-
situated individuals outside her protected class were treated more fav@ah|24 Cal. 4th at

355. A plaintiff also“must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there wassal

2The Amended Complairtleges discriminatioin violation Title VIl and the DFEHThe Department of Fair and
Equal Housings the Californiagovernment agenogharged with the protection of residents from employment,
housing and public accommodation discriminatidime Courtthereforeassumes Plaintiff was alleging discrimination
in violation of Title VIl andthe Fairand Equal Housing Act FEHA").
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connection’ between [her] protected status and the adverse employment decistom.VMtair

Employment & Housing Comim, 192 Cal. App. 3d 1306, 1319 (1987).

The Court finds Plaintiff has providesfficientevidencesstablishinga prima facie case of
discrimnation. Plaintiff belongs to one anore protectedlassedvecause she is a female of
Filipino ancestry and 58 years old. FAC 1 31, Dkt. No. 3. Plaimii$f competently served aSper
dient nurse at the hospital for twelve years with no evidence in the record indipating
performanceOliva Dec.{ 23, Dkt. No. 26 Plaintiff suffered an adversmploymengction when
she was terminatefiom the County. FAC § 7, Dkt. No. Binally, Plaintiff hasprovided evidence
that another similarly situated employee was treated more favavakly he county did not report
to theBRN another nurse, of afterent racial classificatiorposted a sign stating in bold print
“HIV Positive’ on the hospital crib of an HIV positive infant. FAC { 29, Dkt. No. 3. According td
Plaintiff, this sign was visibléo anyone who walked by in the hospital, including “visitors,
vendors, strangers and otheigl."Plaintiff argues that theurse was not disciplined in any manne
for thisallegedHIPPA violation, while Plaintiff was reported to the BRN prior to the completion
of the hospital’s own investigatiotd.

Accordingly, the Court findan inference of discrimination has been raised and Plaintiff
has stated a prima facie case of racial discrimination.

c. Defendants Nondiscriminatory Reason for the Adverse
Employment Action

By satisfying the first prong of the burdshifting test outlined itMcDonnell Douglas, the

burden shifts to Defendants to articulate a legitimate;cieeriminatory reason for taking adverse
employment action against Plaintiffo satisfy their burden of production on this issuefeddants
“need not persuade the court that [they were] actually motivated by the pdoféarsondt is
sufficient if the[ir] ... evidence raises a genuine issue of fact as to whether [they] discriminate
against the plaintif To accomplish this, the Defendant[s] must clearly set forth, through the
introduction of admissible evidence, the reasonsfor taking adverse action against the plaintiff

Burdine, 450 U.S. 248t 255.
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Under FEHA a defendari true reasons, “if nondiscriminatory,..need not necessarily

have been wise or correct..While the objective soundness of an employer’s proffered reasons

supports their credibility, the ultimate issue is simply whether the employenveitite@l motive to

discriminate illegally Thus, legitimate reasons . . in this context are reasons that are facially

unrelated to prohibited bias, and which, if true, would thus prohibit a firedidgscrimination”

Guz 24 Cal. 4th at 358 (emphasis original).

Defendants assethat even if Plaintiff has met her burden of establishing a prima facie
caseof discrimination, Defendants had a legitimate, Haligcriminatory reason fgulacing Plaintiff
onadministrative leavevithout explanation, filing an investigative report to the BRN, fand
ultimately terminating Plaintif6 employmentDefs: MSJat 11, Dkt. No. 8 Defendantsontend
thatpendingPlaintiff’s investigative meeting with MaBerrior, the County of Santa Clara
suspendedéPlaintiff andinformed other units not to work with her based on legitimate,
nondiscriminatory factors demonstrating violation of hospital policies and proseDeffs! MSJ
at 11, Dkt. No. 8.These factorencludedCastllo’s detailed written complaint to Traw stating that
Plaintiff asked a HIV -patients sister tgick up the patient’s bloody underwear and gdwn
Traw's own observations of the patient, consultation with hospital management and subdtanti

concern thaPlaintiff violated SCVMC'’s bloodborne pathogen and infection control pdbeys.

MSJ at 11 Dkt. No. 8.The investigationaccording to Defendants, provided sufficient support fof

Defendants to believe that Plaintiff had created a risk of exposure to eitheftidspr blood of
an HIV-patient.ld. And consistent with Defendanisivestigation, Plaintiff herself admitted she
did not follow universal precautions regarding the safe handling of soiled figa.Depa at
277:15-280:4.

Defendants also maintain thabnsistent with BRN policies regarding the submission of
complaints, Defendantent a letter to the BRN to inform them that Plairitétl been placeon

administrative leave pending completion of an investigation for violation of polcidloodborne

% Defendants in their Motion for Summary Judgmentestaat Castillts written complaint taraw statedPlaintiff
asked the patient’s sister to pick up the patient’s bloody underwear andRjaintiff stated she asked the patient
sister to pick um dropped towelWhetherthe patients sistemwas asked tpick up atowel or soiledunderweais nd a
material fact in this case
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pathogensDefs! MSJ at 11 Dkt. No. 8.Defendants presented evidence that the BRN policy
regarding complaints states thfd] complaint should be filed by anyone wihelieves that a
licensee of the Board has engagedl@yal activities which are related to his/lgpfessional
responsibilities. SeeDefendantsRequest for Judicial Notic®ocket Item No. ¢ This includes
allegationsof gross negligence or incompetence, which Defendsgliisved Plaintiff engaged in
by exposing the sister to soiled linen of the Higtient.Id. Defendants contend that when Traw
signed the letter submitted to BRN, she had no knowledge iotifffa attorneys email from the
previous day sent to County Coundaéfs! MSJ at 11Dkt. No. 8.

Several courts have recognized thatadation of company policys a legitimate,

nondiscriminatory reason for terminating an emplogs® e.qg, Dumasv. New United Motor
Mfg., Inc., 305 Fed Appx. 445, 448 (9th Cir. 2008) (Unpub. Disp.NUMMI proffered a

legitimate, nordiscriminatory eason for terminating Mr. Dumas-his violation of company

policy.”); Elmore v. New Albertsos, Inc, 2012 WL 3542537, *4 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 15,
2012) (“Albertson’s has provided a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason far&Brtermination.

Specifically, EImore violated Albertstncompany policy through her condugt.Rezentes v.

Sears, Roebuck & Co., 729 F. Supp. 2d 1197, 12061&n. 2010) (‘Sears may havlonestly
believed that Rezentes violated company policy and then lied about her actions. Firing an
employee because of honesty and integrity concerns is a legitimate, nomdistory reason for a
termination”)

Much like these decisions, the Court firitdat Defendants have proffersdifficient
evidenced demonstrate that a legitimate, adiscriminatory reason existed for Defendants to tak
adverse employment action against PlainDéfendantsinvestigationuncoveredviolations of the

hospital’'s bloodborne pathogen poli@taintiff admitted to being aware of the hosp#alniversal

* The Court GRANTDefendantstequesfor judicial noticeof online records frorthe California Department of
Consumer Affairs, Board of Registered Nursihtjp://www.rn.ca.gov/enforcementiemplaint.shtml. See

Papai v. Harbor Tug & Barge C&7 F.3d 203207, n. 5 (9th Cir. 1995), r&d on other grounds, 520 U.S. 548, 117
Ct. 1535, 137 L. Ed. 2d 800 (1997)(dicial notice is properly taken of orders and decisions made by othtr &od
administrative agncies.)
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precautions, yet decided not to follow them. Oliva Depo. at 277:15-280:4. Bloodborne pathog
can be transparent and must be handled using “universal precautions.” Oliva Depo. at 281:1-
The purpose of the “Standard Universal Precautions” outlined i8ah& Clara Valley Medical
Centets Infection Prevention Manual is to minimize the risk of exposure to blood and body flu
of all patientsDeclaration of Barbara TrawTraw Decl’) Ex. A at 2, Docket Item No. 10O’he
Standard Universal Precautions must b@nSistently practiced by all health care workers in the
care of all patients since medical history and examination cannot reliablifyicll patients
infected with HIV or other blood-borne pathogens,” includipgr‘dieni or “extra helf
employeesld. Defendants’ decision to terminate Plaintiff for failing to adhere to this stanekzs
legitimate and nowliscriminatory.

The alleged violation of hospital policy was alsgitimategrounds for Defendants to
report Plaintiff to the BRNAs noted, the BRN policgrovides forcomplaints§rom anyoneé‘who
believes that a licensee of the Board has acted with gross negligence or incompeteaddaelat
his/herprofessional responsibilitieSeeDefendants’ Request for Judicial Notice, Dkt. No. 9.
Defendantsnaintainthey reportedPlaintiff to the BRNbecause thelpelieved Plaintifiexposed
relativeof an HIV-atientto potentially soiled linertontaining bloodborne pathogeisefs! MSJ
at 11, Dkt. No. 8. The Coug’analysis is limitetb whether Defendantfiavesatisfied their
burden of production on the issue of whether it haddiscriminatoryreasons for taking adverse
employment action against Plaintiff, not whether that decision was ultimatelytctmneer
FEHA, aDefendan true reaons, if nondiscriminatory, “need not necessarily have been wise (
correct” Guz, 24 Cal.4th at 358.Theultimate issugfor the Courtjs simply whether the

employer acted witla motive tadiscriminate illegally’ Id. (emphasis in the originall.he Court

finds Defendantdavepresented sufficient evidence aliegitimate reasofifacially unrelated to
prohibited bias” which, if true, would preclude a findimfgdiscrimination
Accordingly, the burden shifts back Rdaintiff to raise triable issues of fact regarding

pretext.
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d. Whether Plaintiff Has Raised Triable Issues of Fact
Concerning the Pretextual Nature of Defendants
Explanation
To show that Bfendantsarticulated reasanfor taking adverse actiamerenot the true
reasonpPlaintiff “may succeed... either directly by persuading the court that a discriminatory
reason more likely motivated the employer or indirectly by showing that the esriglpyoffered

explanation is unworthy of credence.” Burdine, 450 U.S. at 48fir€umstantial evidence that

tends to show that the employepgroffered motives were not the actual motivegst be

“specifc” and “substantialin order to create a triable issue with respect to whether the employ

intended to discriminate. ..” Blue v. Widnall, 162 F.3d 541, 546 (9th Cir. 1998) (quoting
Godwin v. Hunt Wesson, Inc., 150 F.3d 1217, 1222 (9th Cir. 199§)hiAtiff cannothowever

simply argue that the employsrdecision wasvrong, mistaken, or unwis®lcRae v. Dejt of

Corr. & Rehab 142 Cal App. 4th 377, 388-89(200F)aintiff must demonstrate suclvéaknesses,
implausibilities, inconsistenciesicoheencies, or contradictions in the empldgearoffered
legitimate reasons for its action thateasonable fact finder could rationally find them unworthy ¢
credence . .ld. at 389.

Here, Plaintiff presents no direct evidence that the proffered explanatigresext for
discrimination.Had Plaintiff offered direct evidence, she would need onigry little evidenceéto

avoid summary judgment. E.E.O.C. v. Boeing Co., 577 F.3d 1044, 1049 (9th Cir. RROX)ff

instead offerwery little circumstantial evidence to sh@efendantsarticulatedreasons for taking
adverse action against her were pretexti@intiff argues that Defendahtermination of her
without any investigation is evidence of pretext because the stated reasomsheret merit’

Pl’s Oppn at 1, 4, 17, Dkt. No. 25.&ausd raw andother hospitamanagement leRlaintiff “in
the darkK about why Traw had seRtlaintiff home until March 8, 201 Blaintiff had no opportunity
to “prepare a defense, to obtain witnesses, or to organize her thoughts agaatisgatpns.”

Pl.’s Oppn at 9, Dkt. No. 25In essence, Plaintif argunent is that the hospital’s investigation of

the alleged HIPPA violation and alleged violation of the hospital’'s bloodborne pathogsn polic
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wasa shamHowever, her evidence is nothing more than conclusory statements and contradig
by substantial and specific evidence presented by Defendants. Defendaesepresidence that
Gerriormet with Oliva andwo RNPA representatives for an investigative meeting on March 8,
2011. Gerrior Depo. at 8:15-17; 50:19-51:25; Traw Depo., 292:4-10; Efaefior testified that

theinvestigation revealed facts sufficient to support a good faith beliePthgitiff hadcreated a

risk of exposure to either body fluids or blood. Gerrior Depo. at 58:6-12; 60:12-15; 58:6-59:11l.

This evidence, coupled with Plaintiff's own admission that she did not follow universal
precautions, undermines Plaintiff’'s argument that the investigation wHstwmerit.”

Plaintiff also argues that whérer attorney contacted County Counsel informing them of
hercomplaintagainst Traw, Defendants retaliated againstPlaintiff offersagainlittte more than
general and conclusory statemetatsupport the above allegations. Botlavrand Gerriotestified
in their depositionghattheyhad no personal knowledge Bfaintiff’s attorneis letter to County
Counsel, and Plaintiff offers no evidence to rebut their testimony. Gerrior Depo2&tF Iraw
Decl. 15 Docket Item No. 10. And agaiR]aintiff's own admission that she did not follow
universal precautions regarding the safe handling of soiled linen supports thabé=sess of
Defendantsstated legitimate, nediscriminatory reasons for terminating h@tiva Depo at
277:15-280:4. The Court is not here to functionasupetpersonnel department that reexamines

an entitys business decisions.” Dale v. Chicago Tribune 97, F.2d 458, 464 (7th Cir. 198®).

is Plaintiffs burden to demonstrate tHagfendant’ articulated reasons fdheir adverse actions
are a preext for unlawful discriminatiomusing specific and substantial evidence. Burdis®, U.S.

at 256.Plaintiff's evidence of pretext is neither specific nor substar@igwford v. MCI

Worldcom Commc’nsinc., 167 F. Supp. 2d 1128, 1135 (S.D. Cal. 2001).

Accordingly, Plaintiffs evidence is not sufficient to allow a reasonable jury to find
Defendantsreasons for terminating Plaintiff were really a pretext for discriminabefendants

motion iISGRANTED asto the FEHA Discrimination claims

17
Case N0.5:13-CV-02927EJD
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTSMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

ted



United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o o -~ w N Pk

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o N o 0N WN P O W 0o N O 0N WwWN B O

ii. FEHA Retaliation (Second, Fifth, and Sixth Causes of Action)

Government Code § 12940(h) prohibits retaliation against a person by an employee bg

“the person has opposed any practices forbidden under [FEHA] or because the pefien da

complaint, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under [FEHRL"Govt Code § 12940(h)To
establish retaliation, the plaintiff must make a prima facie showing that: (1) hgezhon a

protected activity, (2) the employer subjected him to an adverse employrient aand (3) there

was a causal link between the two. Yanowitz Wieal USA,Inc., 36 Cal. 4th 1028, 1042 (2005).

Once the prima facie case is established, the burden shifts to the defendewnt adesfiitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse action. Yanowitz, 36 Cal. 4th at 1042. Upon raaking
a showing, the presumption of retaliation is dropped and the burden shifts back to thé falaintif
establish intentional retaliatioManowitz, 36 Cal. 4th at 1042.

At the outset, the Court addresses Defendants motion for summary judgment as to
Plaintiff’s fifth cause baction, retaliation in violation of Labor Code Section 110Bé&cause
Plaintiff neitheropposeDefendantsmotionon this claimnor presentsufficientevidence to
supporther prima facie claimsummary judgment with respectRtaintiff’ s fifth causeof action
is GRANTED.

Defendants also move for summary judgmernbdglaintiffs second cause of action,
retaliation under California Government Code 8§ 12940 (h), and Plaintiff's sixth caasgoof,
retaliation in violation othe California Health and Safety Co8ection 1278.5The Court will
address, in turn, eadtf Plaintiff' s retaliation claims.

a. California Health and Safety Code Section 1278.5

Section1278.50f the California Health and Safety Costates that[n]o healthfacility
shall discriminate or retaliate in any manner against angmployee of thaealthfacility because
that ... employee .. has presented a grievance or complaintelating to the care, services, or
conditions of that facility. Cal. Health& SafetyCode § 1278(®)(1).

According to Plaintiff Defendant County through SC\M®/retaliated agains?laintiff after

her attorney sent an email to Defendastiéting:
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Ms. Aida E. Oliva in her complaint against Ms. Barbara C. Traw for harassntahgtien
and denial oflue process and fairness arising from a recent pattern ofapmauding
suspending Ms. Oliva without notice or an opportunity to be hearBlease contact Ms,
Traw and share owoncerns that she is violating Ms. Oliva’s constitutional rights of due
process, fairness amiderty afforded by the 5th and 14thmndments to the United States
Constitution, as well asther federal and California State laws. She should cease and d¢
from such illegal condugmmediately.
FAC | 34,55, Dkt. No. 3.
Section 1278.5 of the California Health and Safety Code protects whistleblowers from
retaliation when a member of a medical staff complains about unsafe patient carecatoinsoat
a medical facility. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1278.5(b). Section 1278.5 is intended to gacol

medical staff and patients to notifgwernment entities ofsuspected unsafe patient care and

conditions.”Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1278.5(a); Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. Cir., !
F.3d 1097, 1105 (9th Cir. 2008).

Defendand maintainthatPlaintiff cannot meet her burden of estalbihgha prima facie case
of retaliation because she has presented no evideaishe was a whistleblower regardiaigy
unsafe patient cam@ conditions at SCVM@efs! MSJ at 10 Dkt. No. 8. Defendants point to
Plaintiff's own deposition admitting th&laintiff’ s attorney’s email contains no mention of unsafg
patient care oconditions at SCVMC. Oliva Depo. at 122:9-22, Ex. 7. Furthermore, Defendants
argue that both Gerrior and Traw had no knowledge of Plaintiff's attorneyis when they took
adverseactions against heDefs! MSJ at 10 Dkt. No. 8. Without knowledge of thddmtiff’'s
email to County CounsdDefendang argue thegould not retaliate against Plaintiff even if this
wasprotected whistleblowing activitynder Section 1278.5.

Plaintiff argues that she is within the scope of persons whom the statute is intended to
protect because as a membeSECVMC' s medical staff her attorney’s email to County Counsel
complaining about her own treatment stems from her earlier actions gadatirsuch instances of

unsafe patient care and conditiorBl’s Oppn at 1617, Dkt. No. 25lt is undisputed that Plaintiff
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falls under the statutedefinition of “medical staff’ Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1278.5(b).
Theonly relevantquestion thers whether the nature &flaintiff's conduct falls within
“whistleblowet activities protected under the statutmwever, the Court need not reach this
guestion. Without knowledge of the Plaintiff's email to County Counsel, Defendants could not
have retaliaté against PlaintiffGerrior, who made the decision to releB¢&intiff from her
employment, testified thdie has never seen the email senPlayntiff's attorney. Gerrior Depo. at
79:21-3.Similarly, Trawtestified she hado knowledge oPlaintiff’s attorne}s email when she
signed thedtter to the BRNTraw Dec. § 5Moreover, Defendants presented undisputed eviden
thatthe hospital began the procedseleasingPlaintiff and to report her to the BRbéforeher

attorneys letter was serib County CounselSeeClark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Breedeb32 U.S. 268,

272 (2001) (employer’'s knowledge of a lawsuit prior to transfegmgloyee'immaterial to
retaliation claint'in light of the fact that [the employer] .wascontemplating the éinsfer before
it learned of the suitand“proceeding along lines previously contemplated, though not yet
definitively determined, is no evidence .of causality). Plaintiff’'s argument thabefendants’
denial of knowledge only raises trialisue of facts regardirggedibility is also unpersuasive.
Evidence in the record, outside of Defendants’ own sworn testimony, confirms thaeadver
employment action against Plaintiff bedagforethe March 2, 2011 letter was even sent to Count
Counsel SeeBonner Decl., Ex. 19, Dkt. No. 30 (Email dated February 28, 2011, stating that
“MICC is in the process of releasing Aida Oliva . . .”) Consequently, Pladgfnot introduced
any evidence tdemonstratanycausal link between hattorneys email ad any alleged adverse
employment action

Plaintiff has not met her burden of establishing a prima facie case chtietalinder
Section 1278.5 of the California Health and Safety CAdeordingly, Defendantsmotion for
summaryjudgment is GRANTED as to thedaim.

b. California Government Code § 12940 (h)
FEHA makes it illegal fotfor any employer, labor organization, employment agency, or

person to discharge, expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person becpassotihbas
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opposed any practices forbidden under this part or because the perftadlrasomplaint,
testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this part.” Cal. Gov't Code § 12940(h).

Plaintiff argueDefendand ok adverse employment action against Plaintiff in violation
California Government Code § 1294Dby retaliating against Plaintiff for participating
in statutorily protected activity, namely, Plaintffcomplaints to thBFEH and to theeEOC as
well as Plaintiffs complaint through heattorney regardingarassment, discrimination and
violations of her constitutional rightSsAC 9§ 3536, Dkt. No. 3.

Defendantg maintainthatPlaintiff cannot meet her burden of establishing a prima facie c:
of retaliation pursuant to Section 129400erause Plaintifannot demonstrate any causal link
between heattorneys email and any alleged adverse employment aclioa.Court agred®r the
reasons discussed above regarding Plaintiff's alleged protectétiactder Section 1278.5 of the
California Health and Safety Code. Plaintiff has not demonstrated any causal lieleihéigr
attorneys email and any alleged adverse employment action

Plaintiff has not met her burden of establishing a prima facie case chtietalinder
California Government Code 8 1294). Accordingly, Defendants’ motion fousimaryjudgment
is GRANTED as to thislaim.

iii.  Plaintiff's Section1983 Causes of Action

Defendants move for summary judgment on Plaintiff's three claims under 42.8.S.C
1983: (1) negligent hiring, training, supervision, and retentiad, (2) retaliation for exercising
free speech (fourth cause of action), and (3) retaliation based on free speecModellTheory
(eighth cause of action].he Court addresses each in turn.

a. Negligent Hiring, Training, Supervision, and Retention
(Third Cause of Action)

Plaintiff sthird cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1&R&®jesnegligent

hiring, training, supervision, and retention against all DefendBAS.{{ 3842, Dkt. No. 3.

Specifically, she argues that ttizefendants’actions and failures. . constitute a pattern, practice,
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and custom of violations of the Civil Rights Laws of the United States, 42 U.S.C § 1983"tand
Defendantswrongfully and intentionally retaliated agairf3faintiff.” Id.

To establish such a claim, a plaintiff needs to show that her constitutional rigateden
violatedandalso make @&howing that the negligent hiring, training, or supervision policies direg

causedherconstitutional injurySeeCity of Canton, Ohio v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 385 (1989)

(“[A] municipality can be found liable under § 1983 only where the municipiédiéyf causes [a]

constitutional violation at issug.(citing Monell v. New York City Dep’t. of Soc. Services, 436

U.S. 658, 694-95 (1978)3eealsoBurrell v. Cnty. of Santa Clara, X1V-04569-LHK, 2013 WL

2156374 (N.D. Cal. May 17, 2013).

In City of Canton, 489 U.S. 378,cetainee brought avil rights action againghecity,
alleging violation of her right to receive necessary medical attention while ire moigtody. The
Supreme Court held that the inadequacy of police tramiagserve ashe basis for § 1983
municipal liabilityonly wherethefailure to train amounts to deliberate indifferencéh@rights of
persons with whorthe police come into contaaith. Essentlly, a city is not liable under § 1983
unless a municipal “policydr “custom”is the moving force behind the constitutional violation
City of Canton, 489 U.Sat379.Therefore, ® prove deliberate indifferencethé plaintiff must
show that the municadity was on actual or constructive notice that its omission would likely res

in a constitutional violation. Gibson v. Cnty. of Washoe, Nev., 290 F.3d 1175, 1186 (9th Cir. 2

(quotingFarmer v. Brenngrbll U.S. 825, 841 (1994).

Defendants contend that the Complaint only alleges that Defendants wrongfully and

intentionally retaliated against Plaintéghd that her clainfails because she has not shown that she

suffered a deprivation dfer constitutional rightsjamely,her rights under the First Amendment
unconstitutional discriminatioefs! MSJ at 14, Dkt. No. 8Defendants argu@ the alternative
that, even if Plaintiftould show that the personnel decisionthis caseamounted to a
constitutional violationPlaintiff s Complaint is devd of anyevidencethat the County’s hiring,
training, or supervision policies were inadequate, that the County was deliperdiféerent in

adopting those policies, or that those policies directly caused Plaitiffistitutional injuryld. at
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9. Firally, Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to identflyy hiring, training, supervision, or
retention policy thataused her constitutional haria.

Plaintiff relies on the declaratiom$ CountyNursesSmith, Chambers, Powers, Celsi,
Volpe, Valdez, Chase, Shumaker, Motiei, Woddsdlillo, and McFarlanen their“aggregate
total,” to support her claim that a “longstanding practice, pattern and custom @tiegaland
discriminating against employee#o dare to voice complaints against management or against
discriminatory practicésexisted within the County?l. s Oppn at 19 Dkt. No. 25 Plaintiff makes
no attempt to articulate why, in thémggregate totdlthese declarations prove the County was o
actual or constructive noticEhe burden is witlhe Plaintiff to demonstrate the hospital
maintained &policy” or “custom” that created the drivirfgrce behind the allegembnstitutional
violation(s). Plaintiff fails tocarry her burden by only pointing to the above declarations, with
nothing more, as evidence dbfigstanding practice[spf discrimination and retaliation for which
the hospital was deliberatalydifferert. Paintiff’s conclusory statement that the hospital has
ratified the decision of their subordinate “[b]y failing to train, hire, supervisentreagers, such as
Traw,” does noshow that the municipality was on actual or constructive noticerbdtospital’s
omission would likely result in a constitutional violatidnm fact, many of the declarations inded
by the Plaintiff contradict her own legal theory of discrimination based on lign&iethnicity.
SeeDeclaration oKathy Motiei (“Motiei Decl.”) § 13, Docket Item No. 30 [(have observed
[managementireating FilipinaAmerican nurses more favotglthanNon-Filipina-American
nurses); Declaration oNorma Cedillo(“Cedillo Decl”) 11 45, Docket Item No. 30
(“[managementhlways retaliated against the nBiipino nurses). Finally, Plaintiff s claimalso
fails becausshe has not shown that she suffered a deprivatiberatonstitutional rightlaintiff
has not shown that she was a victim e€enstitutional discrimination by failing to satisfy the

McDonnell Douglas burden shifting test, nor that her First Amendment rightswaedaited based

on her attorney’s letter, as discussed below.

Accordingly, Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on this claim.
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b. Retaliation For Exercising FreeSpeech(Fourth Causeof
Action)
To state a claim under Section 1983 for retaliation based on the exercise of fodedom

speech, a plaintiff must prove: (1) “the violation of a right secured by the Caostitutlaws of

the United Statésand (2) “that the alleged deprivation was committed by a person acting unde

color of law.” West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988gre, the Constitutional right at issue is
Plaintiff's First Amendment right to freedom of speech. The First Amendment salegudilic
employees from employment retaliation for their protected speech actikisids:. City of
Mountlake Terrace678 F.3d 1062, 1068 (9th Cir. 2012).

The Ninth Circuit has establishedive-step, burdershifting analysis to determine whether

a public employee has been retaliated against for exercising free spe&iSaging v. Cooley,

552 F.3d 1062, 1070 (9th Cir. 200%p establish a prima facie case, a plaintiff needs to meet he¢

burden of showing: (1) plaintiff spoke on a matter of public concern; (2) plaintiff spokerasie

citizen and not as a public employee; and (3) plaistfffotected speech was a substantial or

motivating factor in the adverse employment actiba.plaintiff satisfies these first three steps, the

burden shifts to the employer to show: (4) skete had an adequate justification for treating the
employedifferently from other members of the general public; and (5) the statel Wwaué taken

the adverse employment action B\absent the protected speech.” Robinson v. York, 566 F.3d

817, 822 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting Eng v. Cooley, 552 F.3d at 1070-73).

Plaintiff alleges in her Amended Complaint that Defendaetsliated against her after
County Counsel received the letter sent by her attoff®@. 11 43-48Dkt. No. 3.She argues that
the letter is her protected activity because it falls undeFingr Amendment Right dfree Speech
Id. Defendantscounter thaPlaintiff's First Amendment claim fails because her speech was
not amatterof publicconcernand fails because her speech was not a substantial or motivating
factor in Defendantsadverse employment actiori3efs! MSJ at 15 Dkt. No. 8.The Court agrees

with Defendants for the reasons below.
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The Courts inquiry into whether Plaintif§ attorneis letter encompasses a matter of publ
concern is a question of laBeeEng v. Cooley, 552 F.3at 1070. ‘Speech involves a matter of
public concern when it can fairly be considered to relatartg matter of political, social, ottzer

concern to theommunity!” SeeJohnson v. Multhomah @n, 48 F.3d 420, 422 (9t@Gir. 1995)

(quoting_Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 146 (1983). When the speech involves an indvidug

personnel grievances, and has no relevance to the public’s evaluatiopefftteance of that
particular governmental agerisyerformance, courts generally do not hold that speech to a ma

of public concernSeeCoszalter v. City of Salen820 F.3d 968, 973 (9th Cir. 2003). The Court

looks to the “content, form, and context” of the said speech contained within the entide recor
SeeJohnson, 48 F.3d at 422 (quoting Connick, 461 U.S. at 147-X4Bhése three factors, the
content of the speech is generally the most import&atrl, 678 F.3d at 1069[T]he contentof

the communication must be of broader societal concern. [Our] focus must be upon whether th

public or community is likely to biuly interestedn the particular expression, or whether it is

more properly viewd as essentially a private grievafié®e v. City& Crty. of San Francisco

109 F.3d 578, 585 (199f¢mphases addedh examining the form and contextaplaintiffs

speechthe Court focuses “on the point of the speech,” Chateaubriand v. Gaspard, 97 F.3d 12

1223 (9th Cir. 1996), lookingptsuch factors as tiemployeé motivation and the audience
chosen for the speech.” Gilbrook v. City of Westminster, 177 F.3d 839, 866 (9th Cir. [1899).

speech in question does not address a matterdcpgoncern, thert remains unprotected and
gualified immunity should be grantding 552 F.3dat 1070-71.

Applying these abovprinciples to Plaintiffs speechat issuan this caseincluding the
“employeés motivatiori for the speechthe Court does not see how the speech involves matters

public concernSeeUlrich v. City & Cnty. of San Francisco, 308 F.3d 968, 979 (9th Cir. 2002).

Plaintiff's letter to County Counsel appeardelymotivated by her personal concern for her own
employment statusa the prospect of terminationh@ speech at issueflects Plaintiffs
dissatisfaction witlTraw's management style arr termination from the Countyhe letter

begins by informing County Counsel that Plaintiff has retained a lawyeptesent her in a
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complaint against Traw for harassment, retaliation, and denial of due pradds#iaess. Bonner
Decl, Ex. 7, Dkt. No. 30. The letter goes on totstéhat‘through tears, palpable emotional and
mental distress and visible expressions of fear and anxigjritiff related facts involving Tra\s
treatment of Plaintiff following the filed complaint by the patiddt.Analyzing the‘point of
speech, the Court notes that Plaintiffearly wasmotivated byDefendantsadverse employment
action against her and chose to direct her complaidoanty CounsePlaintiff’'s Opposition
asseling that her letter to County Counseglat[es]to the hospitab negligencé and “failure to
train [staff] regarding blood borne pathogens,” nothing in the letter supports this bare assertio
Pl’s Op’n at 21, Dkt. No. 25 Plaintiff's letter appears to beparsonnel grievance undeserving of
First Amendment protection

Even if the letter did relate to a matter of public concern, Plaintiff failed to estétisher
protected speech was a substantial or motivating factor in her termination. Thif pl@ars the
burden of showing the state “took adverse employraetndn .. . [and that the] speech was a

‘substantial or motivatiridactor in the adverse actiorEreitagv. Ayes, 468 F.3d 528, 543 (9th

Cir. 2006) (quotingCoszalter 320 F.3d 968, 973 (9th Cir. 2003plaintiff's Opposition to the
motion provides only conclusory stateme@snply stating that théplaintiff’s speech was indeed
a ‘substantial motivating factoin the Countys termination of plaintiff or “[t] he following facts
support plaintiffs allegatiori’ without actually presenting any facts to guide the Cewatialysis,
is insufficient to meet her burden of demonstrating a nexus between the letter lsenatigrney
and the adverse employmeRt.’s Oppn at 21, Dkt. No. 25Defendand’ provided amplevidence
in the record thathe Countys decision to terminatelaintiff's employmenpreceded the letter
Gerrior testified in his depositions that Ined neveseen the email when he decided to release
Plaintiff. Gerrior Depo. at 79:21-&imilarly, Traw testified that she too never saw the |ettezn
she signed thietterto the BRNreporting Plaintiff Traw Dec.  5; Oliva Depo. at 123:14-21.
Plaintiff on the other hand has offered no evidence to estahtiskus between her lettandany

adverse employment action that she may have suffered
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Plaintiff's failure to establish the first three steps of the Ninth Ciscfiite-step inquiry
precludes the Court from further analyzing the last two steps. In light oflthissible evidence
showing that @fendants could not have retaliated against Plaintiff based on the letter sent to
County Counsel, the Court sees no genuine issue for trial.

Accordingly,Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on this claim.

c. Retaliation Based on Fee SpeechUnder a Monell Theory
(Eighth Cause of Action)
In Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Services of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658, 689 (1978), the

United States Supreme Court heider alig that municipalities and other local governmental uni
are“persons” for purposes of Section 1983 and that local governments could not be held liabl
under a theory of respondeat superior but rather could be held liable only when the mmastitut
deprivation arises from a governmental custdhe Ninth Circuit has held that municipal liability
under_ Monelimaybe established only if a plaintiff proves: (1) a municipal employee committed
the alleged constitutional violation pursuant to a formal governmental policy ogstdoding
practice or custom that was the standard operating procedure of the mugjdgihe individual
who committed the constitutional tort was an official with final policymaking authanitiytiae
challenged action itself thus constituted an act of official governmeriiey;por (3) an official

with final policymaking authority ratiid a subordinate’s unconstitutional decision or action and

the basis for itGillette v. Delmore979 F.2d 1342, 1346—47 (9th Cir. 1992).

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has provided no evidence to support liability uratienSe
1983.Defs! MSJ at 18 Dkt. No. 8.Defendants argue thBtaintiff’s allegations that théounty
“maintained a custom, practice, and policy of retaliation, sham HIPAA violati®esnclusory
and lacks evidentiary suppoBefs! MSJ at 1819, Dkt. No. 8. Furthermor®efendant contend
that Plaintiff has failed to proffer anyieence thasomeonavith “final policy-making authority
committed any constitutional tort against her or ratified a subordedéeisionnvestigations, and

sham peer reviews against employd&sfs’ MSJ at 19, Dkt. No. 8.
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The Court agrees with Defendants tR&intiff's claim under a Monetheory of liability
fails because Plaintiff has not met her burden of providing evidence that Tramuascgal
employeecommitted the alleged constitutionablation pursuant to a formal governmental policy
or a longstanding practice or custom that was the standard operating procedutespitaé.

None of the evidentiary support, which was provided through deposition of other former and
current MICC nurses, is relevant to the Cauitiquiry for this claimAs noted above, these
declarations uniformly state that hospital management provided preferexgtaiént to Filipino
nursesThis directly contradicts Plainti alleged racial discrimination claiamd is otherwise
irrelevantfor Plaintiff s age and gender discrimination claims.

Accordingly, Defendantsnotion for sunmaryjudgment is Granted as to this claim.

iv.  Plaintiff's Claim of Intentional I nfliction of Emotional Distress
(SeventhCause of Action)

Plaintiff's seventhcause of actiots againstDefendant Travior intentional infliction of
emotionaldistress(IIED”). The elements of prima facieclaim for lIED in Californiaare®(1)
extreme and outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention of causing, os reckles
disregard of the probability of causing, emaoabdistress; (2) the plaintif§ suffering severe or
extreme emotional distress; and (3) actual and proximate causation of the endidtoess by the
defendant’s outrageous conduct . . . In order to be considered outrageous, the conduct must
extreme as to exceed all boundgshat usually tolerated in a civilized communiGorales v.
Bennetf 488 F. Supp. 2d 975, 988 (C.D. Cal. 20a7da567 F.3d 554 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting
Tekle ex rel. Tekle v. United Statet57 F.3d 1088, 1103 (9th Cir. 2006)) (internal quotation mat

and citations omitted)

Defendants arguinat, as a matter of law, this claim fails becabDséndants arentitled to
qualified immunity her IIED claim is preempted by California workesempensation law, and
because Defendantctions were not extreme or outrageous conddets! MSJ at 2621, Dkt.
No. 8.Defendants contend that Traw is immune from liability pursua@ateernment Code

Section 821.6 because skas exercising her discretion as a public offwéen she invesiated
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and ultimately took adverse employment action against PlaidtifAnd because Travs entitled
to immunity, Defendants arguieer employerthe County should also be immungl. Defendants
also argue that Plaintif IIED claim is preempted by Grnia workers compensation law
because her claim sased on actions that are a normal part of the employment relationship, su
as demotions, promotions, criticism of work practices, and frictions in negotiatiams as t
grievancesld. at 21. FinallyDefendants argue thaten if Plaintiff can establish that immunity
does not apply and that her claims are not preempted under workers’ compensaiaiteani,s
claim forlIED still fails because she lacks evidencéeoftreme and outrageous condudtl”
The Court'sinitial inquiry begins with whether Defendants are entitled to qualified
immunity. If Defendantsconduct did not violate Plaintif clearly established rights, or if
Defendants could have reasonably believed that their conduct was lawful,dlextided to

immunity. SeeOrozco v. Cty. of Yolo, 814 F. Supp. 885, 895 (E.Dal. 1993).Defendants bear

the burden of establishing qualified immuniBeeCrawford-El v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574, 641,

(1998).In Saucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194 (2001), ¢hUnited States Supren@®urt mandated a two-

step sequence for resolving government officigiglified immunity claimsThe Court later

revised its decision iBaucierstatingthat, ‘while the sequence set forth [Baucier]is often

appropriate, it should no longer be regarded as mandatory.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 2

(2009). The Court went on to state thae“continue to recognize that it [the tstep sequences
often beneficial’ Id. at236. Under this two-step inquitiien the court firstdecides whether the
facts that a plaintiff has alleged or shomake out a violation of a constitutional rigBauciey

533 U.S. at 201Second, if the plaintiff has satisfied this first step, the court must decideexvheth
the right at issue wé<slearly establishédat the time of defendastalleged misconducid.
Qualified immunity is applicable unless the officgatonduct violated a clearly established

constitutional rightPearson555 U.Sat 232.

In applying the mechanics &aucierto this case, the Courttaskedwith determining both

evidentiary facts and ultimate facthat is to say, evidentiary facts consist of the testimony of

witnesses about what those withnesses saw, heard, or did, and are the premises tgbe whic
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determinations of ultimate facts are basgeeBlack's Law Dictionary (7th Ed. 1999), while
ultimate facts are those that are essential to a claim or defense, such as neglidence or t
reasonableness of a persoconduct.Seeid. The reasonableness of th@enduct or belief is an

ultimate fact which is ordinarily a quintessential jury quest®eSloman v. Tadlock, 21 F.3d

1462, 1468 (9th Cir. 1994) (“evaluating the reasonableness of human conduct is undeniably |
the core are of jury competeritdn this case, the Court treats the threshold question of whethe
the facts allegelly Plaintiff showDefendantsconduct violated a constitutional right as a jury
guestion, asking whether a reasonable jury could find a violation on the facts alfd@jathbff.

Thus,Saucieresolveshoth evidentiary and ultimate facts in the light most favorabtheo

plaintiff. SeeSaucier 121 S .Ct. at 2159 (characterizing threshold question as whether a
constitutional violatiorfcould be foundor “could have occurreddn the facts alleged by the
plaintiff). With the foregoing standards in mind, the Court consideistif’s allegations that
Defendants engaged imentionalextreme and outrageous condbgiallegedlyretaliating against
Plaintiff for herparticipation inwhat she alleges wasatutorily protected activitip determine
whether defendants are entitledjieaified immunity.

Considering the facts in a light most favorable kamrRiff, the Court concludes that facts as
alleged by Plaintiff would not lead a reasonable jury to find a violation of constiitiights.In
her Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges thHaefendants engaged in extreme and outrageous
conduct by retaliating against Plaintiéir [her] participation in a statutorily protected activity.
complaining about patiewtire and safetyy FAC 158, Dkt. No. 3But as discusseth preceding
sections Plaintiff has failed to produce evidencedidcrimination or retaliation sufficient to
support her claims under FEHAhe letter Plaintifs attorney sent to County Counsshich she
allegescomplairedabout patient care and safetiyd was the basis for Defendanttaliatory
conduct, lacks any factual suppdks already discussed, the lett@mplains only of Plaintifs
own personnel grievances with managemiatthermore, Plaintiff failed to show any causal

nexus between the letter aDdfendantsadverse employment action.
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Accordingly,Defendand are entitled to summary judgment on this claim and the Court
need not reach whether this claim is preempted or whether Plaintiff presdfitzeirgievidence
of “extreme and outrageoasnduct.”
II. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons and for good cause shown, the Court hereby GRANTS
Defendantsmotion for simmaryjudgment in its entiretysince this decision resolves this action,
judgmentwill be entered in favor of Defendants and the clerk shall close thigfieeCase

Management Conference scheduled for July 25, 2014 is VACATED.

IT 1S SO ORDERED
EDWARD J. DA;ILA

United States Districiudge

Dated: July 22, 2014
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